


GENERAL INFORMATION

Country of Incorporation and Domicile  South Africa

Legal Form of Entity    Schedule 3A Public Entity

Nature of Business and Principal Activities  Performing Arts

Registered Office     161 Nugget Street
     Cnr Pieterson Street
     Johannesburg
     2001

Business Address     161 Nugget Street
     Cnr Pieterson Street
     Johannesburg
     2001

Postal Address     P O Box 3410
     Johannesburg
     2000

Auditors      Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA)

Designed by Design Divas | www.designdivas.co.za 
Edited by Sue-Ann Struwe | www.satellitesue.co.za



Chairman’s Report

Annual Performance Report

Human Resources Report

Production List 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

 Accounting Authority’s Responsibilities and Approval 

 Finance and Audit Committee Report 

 Report of the Auditor-General 

 Statement of Financial Position 

 Statement of Financial Performance 

 Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

 Cash Flow Statement 

 Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

 Accounting Policies

 Notes to the Financial Statements

TABLE OF CONTENTS

02 

04

09  

10 

11

13

14 

15 

16

17 

19 

20

21

22



2

Windybrow Theatre Annual Report 2014 | 2015

In my last report, I noted the assignment and responsibility 
that had been placed on Council and Management of 
the Market Theatre Foundation (MTF) in administrating the 
Windybrow Theatre (WT). A year later, I can confidently 
report that the organisation we took over in March 2014 is 
in a much healthier state.

Council and Management put in place a governance 
structure and aligned processes of management 
and financial oversight to those of the Market Theatre 
Foundation. For all intents and purposes Windybrow 
Theatre remains an independent entity, but for purposes of 
operational efficiency, we had to streamline and integrate 
processes to enable both organisations to function and 
deliver on their service delivery mandates.

Together with the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) 
officials, we instituted a Joint Operations Committee 
(JOC) which dealt with high-level issues and fast-tracked 
decision-making. The continued management of the WT 
as a separate entity should not deter us from the obligation 
and responsibility to see well-functioning and well-
managed public entities, especially in the Arts, Culture, 
Heritage sectors. The success of one organisation has to 
be measured against the success of similar organisations 
and therefore our commitment has not wavered.
 
During the period under review, the following significant 
milestones were achieved:

1. We concluded the forensic audit report and presented 
this to the Minister and the Portfolio Committee on 
Arts and Culture. We are following through on the 
recommendations of the report and will present our 
progress to the Minister and the Portfolio Committee.

2. The services of two key executives were terminated 
as a result of the forensic audit.  The forensic audit 
indicated that these executives were involved in 
certain financial irregularities identified by the audit, 
including overpayments, irregular payments and 
fruitless and wasteful expenditure. We have instituted 
civil and criminal proceedings against the individuals.

3. We briefed the Portfolio Committee on Arts and 
Culture on the state of the WT, our approach to 
resolving the issues and setting the organisation back 
on sound path of good governance, while it remains 
a separate entity. 

4. We temporarily closed the operations of the WT 
pressed by the need to ensure the safety of staff and 
patrons. The WT is operating from the MTF and staff 
have been temporarily reassigned to divisions of the 
MTF.

5. Our contention as Council is that the principle of 
holding management accountable must be carried 
through. We will not be seen as accomplices to 
any wrongdoing and the public sector must take 
the necessary steps in combatting all wrongdoing, 
including recovering any funds that have been 
misappropriated.

Council will continue to defend legal attempts by the 
ousted executives and suppliers to accessing funds of the 
WT which we strongly believe they are not entitled to.

A series of scenarios have been explored and we have 
presented a position to Minister Mthethwa on the best 
possible way forward for the WT. Lengthy discussions with 
Council and Management have directed our thinking 
towards a suitable model which involves the consolidation 
of MTF and WT into a single entity. I can report that in March 
2015, Minister Mthethwa approved this recommendation 
based on the scenarios and rationale presented by 
Council. We are mindful of the fact that more work will 
be required of Management and the Department in 
implementing this decision and will look to DAC to work 
with us through this process and steer the ship in the right 
direction.

Council has considered the inherent reputational risks 
associated with this responsibility and have put in place 
a communication strategy in mitigation of this risk. In 
addition, it was important that the WT brand remained 
visible (during this period of administration) to the sector 
and public. To this end, Management has implemented a 
process in which both the MTF and WT jointly co-produce 
plays, where possible, so that the entity fulfils its service 
delivery mandate. 

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
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The process of consolidation is unchartered terrain for 
both the DAC and the Market Theatre Foundation. It 
is our strongly held belief that should this process be 
implemented successfully and is well documented, it will 
add to the intellectual capital required in the sector as 
part of policy review process. The next year will focus on 
finalising the consolidation, working with National Treasury 
to ensure that all regulations and requirements are met 
and securing the necessary funding from the Ministry.

During the year irregular expenditure of R1,797,182 
was noted. It must be taken into account that all of this 
expenditure related to procurement processes that had 
already occurred prior to this Council being appointed. 
Processes have been put in place to prevent and detect 
irregular expenditure as required by the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act 1 of 1999).

Issues had been raised by the Auditor-General of South 
Africa (AGSA) in the previous financial year. I am pleased 
to report that most of these issues have been resolved 
through processes and policy changes put in place by 
management.

I wish to thank my Council for taking this assignment with 
undeterred vigour. To Management and staff of the WT 
and the Market Theatre Foundation, I am acutely aware 
of the challenge and strain this period has presented and 
thank you for agreeing to this assignment and walking 
this journey with Council and the Department, under the 
leadership of Minister Mthethwa.

Kwanele Gumbi
Chairman
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ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT

PROGRAMME 1: BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
SUB-PROGRAMME: Production
DAC 
Strategic 
Goal

Measurable 
Objective

Output Performance 
Indicator

Annual 
Target 2014/
2015

Actual 
achieved 
2013/
2014

Actual 
achieved 
2014/
2015

Variance 
between 
target 
and 
actual 
2014/
2015

Comment on 
variances

Nation 
Building 
and 
National 
Identity

Stage 20 
productions 
that are 
aligned to 
the Pan-
African 
vision, 
attract 
audiences 
and 
increasingly 
advance 
the cultural 
well-being 
of all South 
Africans

12 
productions 
staged

Number of 
productions 
staged

12 
productions 
staged

14 2 10 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of 
the operations 
at the 
Windybrow 
Theatre 
facilities, this 
target was not 
achieved. The 
2 productions 
that were 
staged 
were joint 
productions 
held with the 
Market Theatre 
Foundation 
at the Market 
Theatre

5 community 
based 
productions 
staged

Number of 
community 
based 
productions 
staged

5 community 
productions 
staged

5 0 5 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of 
the operations 
at the 
Windybrow 
Theatre 
facilities, this 
target was not 
achieved

1 spoken 
word 
performance 
staged

Number of 
spoken word 
performances 
staged

1 spoken 
word 
performance

1 0 1 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of 
the operations 
at the 
Windybrow 
Theatre 
facilities, this 
target was not 
achieved
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PROGRAMME 1: BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
SUB-PROGRAMME: Production
DAC 
Strategic 
Goal

Measurable 
Objective

Output Performance 
Indicator

Annual 
Target 2014/
2015

Actual 
achieved 
2013/
2014

Actual 
achieved 
2014/
2015

Variance 
between 
target 
and 
actual 
2014/
2015

Comment on 
variances

2 stand-up 
comedy 
shows 
staged

Number of 
stand-up 
comedy 
shows staged

2 stand-up 
comedy 
shows

1 0 2 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of 
the operations 
at the 
Windybrow 
Theatre 
facilities, this 
target was not 
achieved

625 paying 
audience 
per 
production

Number 
of paying 
audience per 
production 
staged

625 paying 
audience 
per 
production

240 
average

1208 
average

583 Achieved

PROGRAMME 2: BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
SUB PROGRAMME: Audience Development
DAC 
Strategic 
Goal

Measurable 
Objective

Output Performance 
Indicator

Annual 
Target 2014/
2015

Actual 
achieved 
2013/
2014

Actual 
achieved 
2014/
2015

Variance 
between 
target 
and 
actual 
2014/
2015

Comment on 
variances

Design and 
implement 
an audience
development 
programme 
to attract 
7500 
audience 
members to 
productions 
staged in 
our theatre

7500 
audience 
members

Number of 
non-paying 
audience 
members 

7500 
audience 
members

4645 405 7095 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre 
facilities, this 
target was not 
achieved. Only 2 
productions were 
staged at the 
Market Theatre

1 
audience
develop-
ment
plan

Audience 
development 
plan 
implemented

1 audience 
development 
plan

No plan 
developed

No plan 
developed

1 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was 
not achieved

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

PROGRAMME 2: BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
SUB PROGRAMME: Audience Development
DAC 
Strategic 
Goal

Measurable 
Objective

Output Performance 
Indicator

Annual 
Target 2014/
2015

Actual 
achieved 
2013/
2014

Actual 
achieved 
2014/
2015

Variance 
between 
target 
and 
actual 
2014/
2015

Comment on 
variances

20 public 
awareness 
activities 

No. of public 
awareness 
activities 
conducted

20 public 
awareness 
activities

5 
campaigns

0 20 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was 
not achieved

4 x 
quarterly 
newsletters 
produced

No. of 
quarterly 
newsletters 
produced

4 x quarterly 
newsletters 
produced

No 
newsletters 
produced

0 4 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was 
not achieved

12 website 
updates

No. of website 
updates 
done

12 website 
updates

No 
website 
updates 
done

0 12 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was 
not achieved

PROGRAMME 3: PUBLIC MANAGEMENT
SUB-PROGRAMME: Education and Outreach
DAC 
Strategic 
Goal

Measurable 
Objective

Output Performance 
Indicator

Annual 
Target 
2014/
2015

Actual 
achieved 
2013/
2014

Actual 
achieved 
2014/
2015

Variance 
between 
target 
and 
actual 
2014/
2015

Comment on 
variances

Participate 
in the Arts, 
Culture and 
Heritage 
Curriculum 
Develop-
ment

Stage one 
Grade 12 
set-work 
in August 
and one in 
March for 
a duration 
of 20 days 
each

One grade 
12 set-work in 
September 
and one in 
March

Number 
Grade 12 set-
works staged

1 set-
work in 
September 
and 1 
set-work in 
March

2 0 2 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of 
the operations 
at the 
Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was 
not achieved
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PROGRAMME 4: ADMINISTRATION
SUB-PROGRAMME: Fundraising
DAC 
Strategic 
Goal

Measurable 
Objective

Output Performance 
Indicator

Annual 
Target 2014/
2015

Actual 
achieved 
2013/
2014

Actual 
achieved 
2014/
2015

Variance 
between 
target 
and 
actual 
2014/
2015

Comment on 
variances

Develop-
ment of 
growth 
path

Generate 
R350 000 
of own 
revenue/
income 
over a 
period of 12 
months

R50 000 
income 
generated 
through 
venue hire

Revenue 
generated 
through 
venue hire

R50 000 
income 
generated 
through 
venue hire

R1 000 R0 R50 000 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was not 
achieved

R200 000 
income 
generated 
through 
ticket sales

Revenue 
generated 
through 
ticket sales

R200 000 
income 
generated 
through ticket 
sales

R5 330 R199 426 R573 Partially achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was not 
achieved. Only 2 
productions were 
staged at the 
Market Theatre

R100 000 
income 
generated 
through 
coffee shop 
and bar

Revenue 
generated 
through 
coffee shop 
and bar 
sales

R100 000 
income 
generated 
through 
coffee shop 
and bar

R6 499 R0 R100 000 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was not 
achieved

Submit 10 
funding 
applications 
to 10 arts 
funding 
organisations 
to raise 
funds for 
the artistic 
programme

10 funding 
applications 
to 10 arts 
funding 
organisations 
for artistic 
programmes

Number 
of funding 
proposals 
that are 
successful

10 funding 
applications 
to 10 arts 
funding 
organisations 
for artistic 
programmes

None None 10 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was not 
achieved

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

PROGRAMME 4: ADMINISTRATION

SUB-PROGRAMME: Fundraising

DAC 
Strategic 
Goal

Measurable 
Objective

Output Performance 
Indicator

Annual 
Target 2014/
2015

Actual 
achieved 
2013/
2014

Actual 
achieved 
2014/
2015

Variance 
between 
target 
and 
actual 
2014/
2015

Comment on 
variances

10 reports 
submitted to 
donors

Number 
of reports 
submitted to 
donors

10 reports 
submitted to 
donors

None None 10 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was not 
achieved

3 
consolidated 
plans 
submitted for 
secondary 
income

Number of 
consolidated 
plans for 
secondary 
income

3 
consolidated 
plans 
submitted for 
secondary 
income

None None 3 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of the 
operations at 
the Windybrow 
Theatre facilities, 
this target was not 
achieved

PROGRAMME 5: INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT
SUB-PROGRAMME: Office Accommodation
DAC 
Strategic 
Goal

Measurable 
Objective

Output Performance 
Indicator

Annual 
Target 
2014/
2015

Actual 
achieved 
2013/
2014

Actual 
achieved 
2014/
2015

Variance 
between 
target 
and 
actual 
2014/
2015

Comment on 
variances

Develop-
ment and 
growth path

Improving, 
restore and 
reconfigure 
infrastructure 
for 
classification 
into a 
PAN 
AFRICAN 
ARTS, 
CULTURE 
AND 
HERITAGE 
HUB

Windybrow 
infrastructural 
and 
environmental 
upgrade 
to north 
courtyard 
and building 
1/north 
courtyard

Number 
of capital 
projects 
completed

24 x 
projects

None None 24 Not achieved. 
Due to the 
suspension of 
the operations 
at the 
Windybrow 
Theatre 
facilities, this 
target was not 
achieved
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HUMAN RESOURCES REPORT

 CATEGORY
African Indian Coloured White Persons with 

Disabilities Total

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female

Executive 
Management           0 0

General 
Management 1 2         1 2

General Staff 3 3         3 3

Total permanent 
positions (number) 4 5         4 5

Contract Staff  1 1        1 1

Totals 4 6 1        5 6

 2014-2015 2013-2014

Number of staff at beginning of the year 17 13

Retrenchments 0  0

New appointments (contract appointments) 1 4

Deceased 1 0

Dismissals 2 0

Contract ended 2 0

Resignations 2 0

Number of staff at the end of the year 11 17

STAFF STRUCTURE: 31 MARCH 2015

STAFF TURNOVER
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The following 2 productions were staged at the Market 
Theatre Foundation as joint productions with the 
WIndybrow.

THE SHADOW OF THE HUMMINGBIRD
 
Season dates: 28 July to 17 August 2014
• Writer and Director: Athol Fugard
• Co-director: Paula Fourie
• Performers: Athol Fugard, Marviantoz Alejandro Baker
• Stage Manager: Elisabeth Morapedi
• Lighting Designer: Manuel Manim
• Technical Stage Manager: Benjamin Du Plessis
 

THE VOICE OF ANNE FRANK
 
Season dates: 18 to 29 August 2014
• Writers: Mirenka Cechova and Petr Bohac
• Co-directors: Mirenka Cechova and Petr Bohac
• Set & Costume Designers: Petra Vlachynska and 

Ivanka Kanhousevova
• Lighting Designer: Martin Spetlik
• Production Manager: Tereza Havlickova
• Performer: Mirenka Cechova
• Cellist: Nancy Jo Snider

PRODUCTION LIST
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ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL

The Council is required by the Public Finance Management 
Act (Act 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate accounting 
records and is responsible for the content and integrity of 
the financial statements and related financial information 
included in this report. It is the responsibility of the Council 
to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the Windybrow Theatre as at the end 
of the financial year and the results of its operations 
and cash flows for the period then ended. The Auditor-
General of South Africa (AGSA) is engaged to express 
an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
was given unrestricted access to all financial records and 
related data.

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, 
guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board.

The financial statements are based upon appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Council members acknowledge that they are 
ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial 
control established by the entity and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control environment.      

To enable the Council members to meet these    
responsibilities, the Council sets standards for internal control 
aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost effective 
manner. The standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 
effective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. 
These controls are monitored throughout the entity and 
all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in ensuring the entity’s business is conducted in 
a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot 
be fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Council is of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the 
financial records may be relied on for the preparation of 
the financial statements. However, any system of internal 
financial control can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or 
deficit.

Name of member Date appointed or resigned Gender Race No of 
Meetings 
Attended

Remuneration 
Paid

Gumbi K (Chairman) Appointed 01 March 2014 Male African 3 -

McKenzie P M Appointed 01 March 2014 Male Coloured 3 R1 632

Mokone-Matabane S Dr Appointed 01 March 2014 Female African 4 -

Spector J B (US Citizen) Appointed 01 March 2014 Male White 4 R3 264

Ractliffe J A Appointed 01 March 2014
Resigned 13 June 2014 Female White 0 -

Nunn C P Appointed 01 March 2014 Male Coloured 2 R1 632

Dhlomo-Mautloa B Appointed 01 March 2014 Female African 3 R3 264

Moshebi O M Appointed 01 March 2014 Male African 2 R1 632

Total R11 424

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The financial results of the Windybrow’s activities for the year are as follows:

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL (CONTINUED)

Income excluding Government Grant 127 479 827 351
Expenditure (8 895 098) (17 902 131)
Shortfall for the year before Government Grant (8 767 619) (17 074 780)
Government Operations Grant 10 703 000 10 082 000
Surplus/(deficit) from operations 1 935 381 (6 992 780)
Government Capital Grant 666 629 5 768 502
Production Grant 83 333 -
Loss on disposal of assets (7 214) (47 369)
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2 678 129 (1 271 647)

2015 2014
R R

Income decreased by 85% when compared to the prior year since the operations at the Windybrow Theatre where 
suspended for the year. Only 2 productions where produced in collaboration with the Market Theatre Foundation. The 
related decrease in expenditure is also  as a result of the suspension of operations at the Windybrow Theatre. The surplus for 
the year was R2,68 million (2014: Deficit of R1,3 million). The total assets (R14 million) exceeded its liabilities (R11,55 million) 
by R2,45 million. Council has reviewed the budget for its next year and is confident that the Windybrow Theatre is a going 
concern for the forseeable future.

The Council met four times during the year on the following dates:

• 19 June 2014
• 21 August 2014
• 26 November 2014
• 19 February 2015

Kwanele Gumbi
Chairman
23 July 2015

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015
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FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

In addition to the above members, persons attending the 
committee meetings by standing invitation include:

• Chief Executive Officer
• Chief Financial Officer
• Representatives from the Auditor-General of South 

Africa (AGSA)

FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 
RESPONSIBILITY

The Finance and Audit Committee reports that it has adopted 
appropriate formal terms of reference as its Finance and Audit 
Committee charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance 
with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as 
contained therein.

THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROL 

The system of internal controls applied by the entity over 
financial and risk management is effective, efficient and
transparent. From the Audit Report on the financial 
statements, and the management report of the Auditor- 
General of South Africa, it was noted that no matters 
were reported that indicate any material deficiencies in 
the system of internal control or any deviations therefrom. 
Accordingly, we can report that the system of internal 
control over financial reporting for the period under review 
was efficient and effective.

The Finance and Audit Committee is satisfied with the 
content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports 
prepared and issued by the Accounting Authority of the 
entity during the year under review.

EVALUATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Finance and Audit Committee has:

• Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial 
statements to be included in the annual report, with 
the AGSA and the Accounting Authority;

• Reviewed the AGSA’s management report and 
management’s response thereto;

• Reviewed the entities compliance with legal and 
regulatory provisions;

• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the 
audit.

The Finance and Audit Committee concurs with and 
accepts the Auditor-General of South Africa’s report on 
the financial statements, and are of the opinion that the 
audited financial statements should be accepted and 
read together with the report of the Auditor-General of
South Africa.

INTERNAL AUDIT

There was no internal audit function in place at the 
Windybrow for the financial year.

AUDITOR-GENERAL OF SOUTH AFRICA

The Finance and Audit Committee has met with the 
Auditor-General of South Africa to ensure that there are no 
unresolved issues.

T F Mosololi
Chairman of the Finance and Audit Committee
21 July 2015

Name of member Number of meetings 
attended

T F Mosololi (Chairman) 4
Dr S Mokone-Matabane 4

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2015.

FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE

The Finance and Audit Committee consists of the members listed hereunder and should meet not less than 2 times per 
annum as per its approved terms of reference. During the current year 4 meetings were held:

20 May 2014, 24 July 2014, 19 November 2014 and 10 February 2015.

Name of member Number of meetings 
attended

J B Spector (US citizen) 4
M Maponya 4

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction 
1. I have audited the financial statements of the 

Windybrow Theatre set out on pages 16 to 47, which 
comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 
March 2015, the statement of financial performance, 
statement of changes in net assets and the statements 
of cash flows for the year then ended, as well as the 
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial 
statements
2. The accounting authority is responsible for the 

preparation of and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with South African Standards 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA 
Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public 
Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 
1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for such internal control as the 
accounting authority determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility
3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on my audit.  I conducted 
my audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
qualified audit opinion. 

Basis for qualified opinion

Irregular expenditure
6. During 2014, I was unable to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence for irregular expenditure 
and to confirm the expenditure by alternative means. 
Consequently, I was unable to determine whether 
any adjustment to irregular expenditure stated at 
R64 515 484 was necessary. My audit opinion on the 

financial statements for the period ended 31 March 
2014 was modified accordingly. My opinion on the 
current period’s financial statements is also modified 
because of the possible effect of this matter on the 
comparability of the current period’s figures.

Qualified opinion
7. In my opinion, except for the possible effects on the 

corresponding figures of the matter described in the 
basis for the qualified opinion paragraph, the financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Windybrow Theatre as at 31 
March 2015, and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended, in accordance with SA 
Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

Emphasis of matters
8. I draw attention to the matters below.  My opinion is 

not modified in respect of these matters.

Significant uncertainties
9. With reference to note 21 to the financial statements, 

the entity is the defendant in a lawsuit with a service 
provider for breach of contract. The entity is opposing 
the claim. The ultimate outcome of the matter cannot 
presently be determined and no provision for any 
liability that may result has been made in the financial 
statements.  Furthermore the entity is the defendant in 
a lawsuit with the former chief executive officer and 
the chief financial officer potential overpayments to 
suppliers for building costs that was incurred at the 
entity’s premises. The entity is opposing the claim. The 
ultimate outcome of the matter cannot presently be 
determined and no provision for any liability that may 
result has been made in the financial statements.

Restatement of corresponding figures
10. As disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, the 

corresponding figures for 31 March 2014 have been 
restated as a result of an error discovered during 31 
March 2015 in the financial statements of the entity at 
and for the year ended, 31 March 2015.

Going concern
11. Note 31 to the financial statement indicate that the 

entity has suspended their operations during the 
2014/2015 financial year. This condition, along with 
other matters as set forth in the note 31, indicate the 
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt on the entity’s ability to operate as 
a going concern, for the year ended 31 March 2015.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
12. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South 

Africa, 2004 (Act no. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general 
notice issued in terms thereof. I have a responsibility 
to report on findings on the reported performance 
information against predetermined objectives for 
selected programmes presented in the annual 
performance report, non-compliance with legislation 
and internal control.  The objective of my test was to 
identify reportable findings as described under each 

TO PARLIAMENT ON THE WINDYBROW THEATRE

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL
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subheading but not to gather evidence to express 
assurance on these matters.  Accordingly, I do not 
express an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives
13. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the 

usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report of the 
entity for the year ended 31 March 2015: 
• Programme 1: Productions on pages 4 to 5. 
• Programme 2: Audience development on pages 5 to 6. 
• Programme 5: Infrastructure development on page 8.

14. I evaluated the reported performance information 
against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability.

15. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported 
performance information to determine whether it 
was presented in accordance with the National 
Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether 
the reported performance was consistent with the 
planned programmes.  I further performed tests to 
determine whether indicators and targets were well 
defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound 
and relevant, as required by the National Treasury’s 
Framework for managing programme performance 
information (FMPPI).

16. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance 
information to determine whether it was valid, accurate 
and complete.

17. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness 
and reliability of the reported performance information 
for the following objectives:
• Programme 1: Productions. 
• Programme 2: Audience development.
• Programme 5: Infrastructure development.

Additional matter
18. I draw attention to the following matter:

Achievement of planned targets
19. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 4 

to 8 for information on the achievement of planned 
targets for the year. 

Material inconsistencies in other information included in 
the annual report
20. The National Treasury’s budget guidelines provide for a 

high-level alignment between the strategic objectives 
and associated targets in the annual performance 
plan and the resource allocation as per the budget. 
As no link existed between the annual performance 
plan and the budget, it could not be ensured that at 
least key objectives and priorities had been budgeted 
for. This was due to a lack of proper planning and 
insufficient training on the principles of performance 
information planning and budgeting.

Compliance with legislation
21. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that 

the entity had complied with applicable legislation 
regarding financial matters, financial management 
and other related matters. My findings on material non-
compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as 
set out in the general notice issued in terms of the PAA, 
are as follows:

Strategic planning and performance management
22. Effective, efficient and transparent systems of risk 

management and internal controls with respect to 
performance information and management was not 
in place as required by section 51(1)(a)(i) of the PFMA.

Internal audit
23. The accounting authority did not ensure that the 

internal audit function was established, as required by 
section 51(1)(a)(ii) of the Public Finance Management 
Act and Treasury Regulations 27.2.2 and 27.2.3.

Expenditure management
24. The accounting authority did not take effective steps 

to prevent irregular expenditure, as required by section 
51(1)(b)(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act. 

Procurement and contract management
25. Goods and services with a transaction value below R500 

000 were procured without obtaining the required price 
quotations, as required by Treasury Regulation 16A6.1.

Internal control
26. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of 

the financial statements, annual performance report 
and compliance with legislation. The matters reported 
below are limited to the significant internal control 
deficiencies that resulted in the basis for qualified 
opinion.

Leadership
27. The accounting authority did not exercise oversight 

responsibility regarding financial reporting and 
compliance with laws and regulations and related 
controls.  

Financial and performance management
28. Management did not implement proper record 

keeping in a timely manner to ensure that complete, 
relevant and accurate information is accessible and 
available to support the procurement of all goods and 
services. 

Governance
29. The accounting authority did not ensure an adequately 

resourced and functioning internal audit unit for the 
entire period under review that identified internal 
control deficiencies and recommends corrective 
actions effectively.

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

Note(s) 2015 2014
R R

Assets

Current Assets
Inventories 5 - 7 025
Receivables from exchange transactions 6 177 795 143 023
Cash and cash equivalents 7 12 562 194 11 128 748

12 739 989 11 278 796

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 1 305 257 936 330
Intangible assets 4 - 2

1 305 257 936 332
Total Assets 14 045 246 12 215 128

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Payables from exchange transactions 10 602 675 1 374 238
Unspent conditional grants and receipts 8 10 958 745 11 010 753
Provisions 9 - 27 000
Bank overdraft 7 2 560 -
Total Liabilities 11 563 980 12 411 991
Net Assets 2 481 266 (196 863)
Net Assets
Capital donations reserve 666 629 -
Accumulated surplus 1 814 637 (196 863)
Total Net Assets 2 481 266 (196 863)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

Note(s) 2015 2014
R R

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Ticket sales 101 279 183 662
Rental of facilities and equipment 2 000 17 700
Sundry income 24 200 -
Interest received - investment 17 - 625 989
Total revenue from exchange transactions 127 479 827 351

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
Government grants and subsidies 14 11 452 962 15 850 503
Total revenue 12 11 580 441 16 677 854

Expenditure
Employee related costs 16 (3 813 231) (7 201 496)
Depreciation and amortisation (290 491) (389 090)
Impairment loss - (24 898)
Finance costs 18 - (8 329)
Repairs and maintenance (54 419) (69 457)
General expenses 31 (4 736 957) (10 208 861)
Total expenditure (8 895 098) (17 902 131)
Operation surplus/(deficit) 15 2 685 343 (1 224 277)
Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities (7 214) (47 369)
Taxation - -
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2 678 129 (1 271 646)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Capital
Donations

Reserve

Accumulated
Surplus

Total Net
Assets

R R R

Balance at 01 April 2013 - 1 088 533 1 088 533

Prior year adjustment - (13 750) (13 750)

Deficit for the year - (1 271 646) (1 271 646)

Total changes - (1 285 396) (1 285 396)

Balance at 01 April 2014 - (196 863) (196 863)

Surplus for the year - 2 678 129 2 678 129

Transfer of Accumulated surplus to Capital donations reserve 666 629 (666 629) -

Total changes 666 629 2 011 500 2 678 129

Balance at 31 March 2015 666 629 1 814 637 2 481 266
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Note(s) 2015 2014
R R

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts
Sale of goods and services 92 707 70 653
Grants 11 400 949 10 082 000
Interest income - 625 989

11 493 656 10 778 642

Payments
Employee costs (3 876 895) (7 706 673)
Suppliers (5 519 250) (10 442 800)
Finance costs - (8 329)

(9 396 145) (18 157 802)
Net cash flows from operating activities 20 2 097 511 (7 379 160)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (666 629) (77 382)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3 (1) 13 263
Proceeds from sale of other intangible assets 4 2 -
Net cash flows from investing activities (666 628) (64 119)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1 430 883 (7 443 279)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 11 128 748 18 572 025
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 12 559 631 11 128 746
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

Budget on Accrual Basis Note(s) Approved 
and final 

budget

Actual 
Amounts On 
Comparable 

Basis

Difference 
Between Final 

Budget And 
Actual

R R R
Statement of Financial Performance

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Ticket sales, rentals and interest 30 272 000 127 479 (144 521)

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Government grants and subsidies 30 10 703 000 11 452 962 749 962
Total revenue 10 975 000 11 580 441 605 441

Expenditure
Employee related costs 30 (5 322 000) (3 813 231) 1 508 769
Depreciation and amortisation 30 (418 000)  (290 491) 127 509
General expenses 30 (5 235 000) (4 791 376) 443 624
Total expenditure (10 975 000) (8 895 098) 2 079 902
Operating surplus - 2 685 343 2 685 343
Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities Immaterial - (7 214) (7 214)
Surplus - 2 678 129 2 678 129

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
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Budget on Accrual Basis Note(s) Approved 
and final 

budget

Actual 
Amounts On 
Comparable 

Basis

Difference 
Between Final 

Budget And 
Actual

R R R
Statement of Financial Position

Assets
Current Assets
Inventories Immaterial 10 000 - (10 000)
Receivables from exchange transactions 30 13 000 177 795 164 795
Cash and cash equivalents 30 1 068 000 12 562 194 11 494 194

1 091 000 12 739 989 11 648 989

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 30 847 000  1 305 257 458 257
Total Assets 1 938 000 14 045 246 12 107 246

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Payables from exchange transactions 30 70 000 602 673 532 673
Unspent conditional grants and receipts 30 - 10 958 745 10 958 745
Provisions Immaterial 91 000  - (91 000)
Bank overdraft Immaterial - 2 560 2 560
Total current liabilities 161 000 11 563 978 11 402 978
Total Liabilities 161 000 11 563 978 11 402 978
Net Assets 1 777 000 2 481 268 704 268

Reserves
Capital replacement reserve Immaterial 612 000 666 629 54 629

Accumulated surplus 1 165 000 1 814 639 649 639

Total Net Assets 1 777 000  2 481 268 704 268

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

1. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the 
Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999).

These financial statements have been prepared on an 
accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with 
historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, 
unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South 
African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which 
have been consistently applied in the preparation of these 
financial statements, are disclosed below.

1.1 PRESENTATION CURRENCY

These financial statements are presented in South African 
Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity.

1.2 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing the financial statements, management is 
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the financial statements and 
related disclosures. Use of available information and the 
application of judgement is inherent in the formation of 
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from 
these estimates which may be material to the financial 
statements. Significant judgements include:
• The probability of the outflow of economic benefits to 

pending legal cases will be low;
• Uncertainty of the timing of the outflow of the 

economic benefits with certain legal cases.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and 
Intangible assets

The entity’s management determines the estimated useful 
lives and related depreciation charges for property, plant 
and equipement as well as Intangible assets. This estimate 
is based on industry norm. Management will increase 
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than 
previously estimated useful lives.

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and 
deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
The impairment is measured as the difference between 
the debtors carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate, computed at initial recognition.

1.3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use 
in the production or supply of goods or services, rental to 
others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to 
be used during more than one reporting period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the item will flow to the 
entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted 
in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is 
acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or assets, 
or a combination of assets and non-monetary assets, the 
asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). 
If the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s 
deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing 
the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, 
where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, 
and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the 
asset or using it for purposes other than the production of 
inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management.

Major spare parts and stand-by equipment which are 
expected to be used for more than one period are included 
in property, plant and equipment. In addition, spare 
parts  and stand-by equipment which can only be used in  
connection with an item of property, plant and equipment 
are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing 
use of an item of property, plant and equipment and 
which meet the recognition criteria above are included 
as a replacement in the cost of the item of property, 

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

ACCOUNTING POLICIES



Windybrow Theatre Annual Report 2014 | 2015

23

plant and equipment. Any remaining inspection costs 
from the previous inspection are derecognised. Property, 
plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their 
estimated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item     Average useful life
Furniture and fixtures  7 to 10 years
Motor vehicles   5 years
Office equipment  1 to 10 years
IT equipment    1 to 3 years
Other equipment   1 to 10 years
Communication equipmnet 1 to 10 years

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method 
of each asset are reviewed at least at each reporting 
date. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, 
the change is accounted for as a change in accounting 
estimate.

Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis 
does not require the entity to amend the previous estimate 
unless expectations differ from the previous estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of 
the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in 
surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset. 

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the 
use or disposal of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus 
or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount 
of the item. 

1.4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset 
without physical substance.

An asset is identifiable if it either:
1. is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or 

divided from the entity and sold, transferred, licenced, 
rented or exchanged, either individually or together 
with a related contract, identifiable asset or liability, 
regardless of whether the entity intends to do so; or

2. arises from binding arrangements (including rights 
from contracts) regardless of whether those rights are 
transferable or separable from the entity or from other 
rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected future economic 

benefits or service potential that are attributable to 
the asset will flow to the entity; and 

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured 
reliably.

The entity assesses the probability of expected 
future economic benefits or service potential using 
reasonable and supportable assumptions that represent 
management’s best estimate of the set of economic 
conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-
exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of 
acquisition is measured at its fair value as at that date.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an 
internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is 
incurred.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an finite useful 
life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no 
foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is 
expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. 
Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but 
they are tested for impairment annually and whenever 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For 
all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a 
straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life after it was classified as finite is an indicator 
that the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is 
tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount 
is amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing 
titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not 
recognised as intangible assets.

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)



24

Windybrow Theatre Annual Report 2014 | 2015

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an 
intangible asset.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible 
assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as 
follows:

Item     Average useful life
Computer software, other  3 years

Expenditure on an intangible item shall be recognised 
as an expense when it is incurred unless it forms part of 
the cost of an intangible asset that meets the recognition 
criteria.

Intangible assets are derecognised:
• on disposal; or
• when no future economic benefits or service potential 

are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is recognised 
in surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.

1.5 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a 
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a 
residual interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
is the amount at which the financial asset or financial 
liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal 
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation 
using the effective interest method of any difference 
between that initial amount and the maturity amount, 
and minus any reduction (directly or through the use of 
an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument 
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised 
financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s 
statement of financial position.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial 
liability (or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) 
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense 
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset 

or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest 
rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, 
prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider 
future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and 
points paid or received between parties to the contract 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate 
(see the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange 
Transactions), transaction costs, and all other premiums or 
discounts. There is a presumption that the cash flows and 
the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments 
can be estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases 
when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows 
or the expected life of a financial instrument (or group of 
financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual 
cash flows over the full contractual term of the financial 
instrument (or group of financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:
• cash;
• a residual interest of another entity; or
• a contractual right to:
 - receive cash or another financial asset from another  
   entity; or
 - exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with  
   another entity under conditions that are potentially
   favourable to the entity.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual 
obligation to:
• deliver cash or another financial asset to another 

entity; or
• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under 

conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the 
event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or 
another financial asset.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit 
under pre-specified terms and conditions.

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-
term payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

1.4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)



Windybrow Theatre Annual Report 2014 | 2015

25Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar 
financial instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has 
failed to make a payment when contractually due.

A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest 
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
A residual interest includes contributions from owners, 
which may be shown as:
• equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital;
• a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a 

class of such transfers) by the parties to the transaction 
as forming part of an entity’s net assets, either 
before the contribution occurs or at the time of the 
contribution; or

• a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, 
establishing or increasing an existing financial interest 
in the net assets of an entity.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a 
financial asset or financial liability. An incremental cost is 
one that would not have been incurred if the entity had 
not acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative 
financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that 
have fixed or determinable payments, excluding those 
instruments that:
• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; 

or
• are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual 
interests that do not have a quoted market price in an 
active market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably 
measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets 
or financial liabilities that are:
• derivatives;
• combined instruments that are designated at fair 

value;
• instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is 

held for trading if:
 -  it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose  
    of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or
 -  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of   
      identified financial instruments that are managed  

    together and for which there is evidence of a  
  recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking;
 -  non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities  
    with fixed or determinable payments that are   
    designated at fair value at initial recognition; and
 -  financial instruments that do not meet the definition  
    of financial instruments at amortised cost or   
  financial instruments at cost.

Classification

The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes 
and category) as reflected on the face of the statement 
of financial position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category
Receivables from 
exhange transactions

Financial asset measured 
at fair value

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Financial asset measured 
at fair value

The entity has the following types of financial liabilities 
(classes and category) as reflected on the face of the 
statement of financial position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category
Payables from exchange 
transactions

Financial liability 
measured at fair value

Initial recognition

The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial 
liability in its statement of financial position when the entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

The entity recognises financial assets using trade date 
accounting.

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability 
initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset 
or financial liability:
• a social benefit in accordance with the Framework 

for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements, where it is the issuer of the loan; or

• non-exchange revenue, in accordance with the 
Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange 
Transactions (Taxes and Transfers), where it is the 
recipient of the loan.
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Subsequent measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities 

The entity measures all financial assets and financial 
liabilities after initial recognition using the following 
categories:
• Financial instruments at amortised cost.

All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are 
subject to an impairment review.

Fair value measurement considerations

The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active 
market. If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the 
entity establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The 
objective of using a valuation technique is to establish what 
the transaction price would have been on the measurement 
date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal 
operating considerations. Valuation techniques include 
using recent arm’s length market transactions between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, reference to the 
current fair value of another instrument that is substantially 
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing 
models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used 
by market participants to price the instrument and that 
technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable 
estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions, the 
entity uses that technique. The chosen valuation technique 
makes maximum use of market inputs and relies as little as 
possible on entity-specific inputs. It incorporates all factors 
that market participants would consider in setting a price and 
is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for 
pricing financial instruments. Periodically, an entity calibrates 
the valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices 
from any observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument (i.e. without modification or repackaging) or 
based on any available observable market data.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature 
(e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount 
payable on demand, discounted from the first date that 
the amount could be required to be paid.

Reclassification

The entity does not reclassify a financial instrument while it 
is issued or held unless it is:
• combined instrument that is required to be measured 

at fair value; or
• an investment in a residual interest that meets the 

requirements for reclassification.

Where the entity cannot reliably measure the fair value of 
an embedded derivative that has been separated from a 
host contract that is a financial instrument at a subsequent 

reporting date, it measures the combined instrument at 
fair value. This requires a reclassification of the instrument 
from amortised cost or cost to fair value.

If fair value can no longer be measured reliably for an 
investment in a residual interest measured at fair value, the 
entity reclassifies the investment from fair value to cost. The 
carrying amount at the date that fair value is no longer 
available becomes the cost.

If a reliable measure becomes available for an investment 
in a residual interest for which a measure was previously 
not available, and the instrument would have been 
required to be measured at fair value, the entity reclassifies 
the instrument from cost to fair value.

Gains and losses

A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a 
financial asset or financial liability measured at fair value is 
recognised in surplus or deficit.

For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus 
or deficit when the financial asset or financial liability is 
derecognised or impaired, or through the amortisation 
process.

Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets

The entity assess at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on 
financial assets measured at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly OR 
through the use of an allowance account. The amount of 
the loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed directly OR by adjusting an allowance 
account. The reversal does not result in a carrying amount 
of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The 
amount of the reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit.
Derecognition
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Financial assets

The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date 
accounting.

The entity derecognises a financial asset only when:
• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

financial asset expire, are settled or waived;
• the entity transfers to another party substantially all 

of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset; or

• the entity, despite having retained some significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, 
has transferred control of the asset to another party 
and the other party has the practical ability to sell the 
asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is 
able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without 
needing to impose additional restrictions on the 
transfer. In this case, the entity:

 - derecognise the asset; and
 - recognise separately any rights and obligations  
   created or retained in the transfer.

The carrying amounts of the transferred asset are 
allocated between the rights or obligations retained and 
those transferred on the basis of their relative fair values at 
the transfer date. Newly created rights and obligations are 
measured at their fair values at that date. Any difference 
between the consideration received and the amounts 
recognised and derecognised is recognised in surplus or 
deficit in the period of the transfer.

If the entity transfers a financial asset in a transfer that qualifies 
for derecognition in its entirety and retains the right to service 
the financial asset for a fee, it recognises either a servicing 
asset or a servicing liability for that servicing contract. If the 
fee to be received is not expected to compensate the 
entity adequately for performing the servicing, a servicing 
liability for the servicing obligation is recognised at its fair 
value. If the fee to be received is expected to be more than 
adequate compensation for the servicing, a servicing asset 
is recognised for the servicing right at an amount determined 
on the basis of an allocation of the carrying amount of the 
larger financial asset.

If, as a result of a transfer, a financial asset is derecognised 
in its entirety but the transfer results in the entity obtaining a 
new financial asset or assuming a new financial liability, or 
a servicing liability, the entity recognise the new financial 
asset, financial liability or servicing liability at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between the carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received is recognised in surplus or deficit.
If the transferred asset is part of a larger financial asset and 

the part transferred qualifies for derecognition in its entirety, 
the previous carrying amount of the larger financial 
asset is allocated between the part that continues to 
be recognised and the part that is derecognised, based 
on the relative fair values of those parts, on the date of 
the transfer. For this purpose, a retained servicing asset 
is treated as a part that continues to be recognised. The 
difference between the carrying amount allocated to 
the part derecognised and the sum of the consideration 
received for the part derecognised is recognised in surplus 
or deficit.

If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the 
entity has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the transferred asset, the entity continue to 
recognise the transferred asset in its entirety and recognise a 
financial liability for the consideration received. In subsequent 
periods, the entity recognises any revenue on the transferred 
asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability. 
Neither the asset, and the associated liability nor the revenue, 
and the associated expenses are offset. 

Financial liabilities

The entity removes a financial liability (or a part of a 
financial liability) from its statement of financial position 
when it is extinguished — i.e. when the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.

An exchange between an existing borrower and lender 
of debt instruments with substantially different terms is 
accounted for as having extinguished the original financial 
liability and a new financial liability is recognised. Similarly, 
a substantial modification of the terms of an existing 
financial liability or a part of it is accounted for as having 
extinguished the original financial liability and having 
recognised a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial 
liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in surplus or deficit. Any liabilities 
that are waived, forgiven or assumed by another entity by 
way of a non-exchange transaction are accounted for in 
accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from 
Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

Presentation

Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component 
that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or 
expense in surplus or deficit.

Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a 
component that is a financial liability is recognised as 
revenue or expense in surplus or deficit.
A financial asset and a financial liability ae only offset and 
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the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when the entity currently has a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either 
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does 
not qualify for derecognition, the entity does not offset the 
transferred asset and the associated liability.

1.6 TAX

Tax expenses, current tax assets and tax liabilities

No provision has been made for income tax as the 
Windybrow Theatre is exempted in terms of section 10 of 
the Income Tax Act. 1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962).

1.7 LEASES 

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if 
it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the 
entity assesses the classification of each element separately.

Operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 
contractual payments are recognised as an operating 
lease asset or liability.

1.8 INVENTORIES

Inventories are initially measured at cost except where 
inventories are acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, then their costs are their fair value as at the 
date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current 
replacement cost where they are held for:
• distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge; or
• consumption in the production process of goods to be 

distributed at no charge or for a nominal charge.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of operations less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale, exchange or distribution.
Current replacement cost is the cost the entity incurs to 

acquire the asset on the reporting date.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily 
interchangeable and goods or services produced and 
segregated for specific projects is assigned using specific 
identification of the individual costs.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the first-in, first-
out (FIFO) formula. The same cost formula is used for all 
inventories having a similar nature and use to the entity.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those 
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised. If there is no 
related revenue, the expenses are recognised when the 
goods are distributed, or related services are rendered. 
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net 
realisable value or current replacement cost and all losses 
of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period 
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal 
of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase 
in net realisable value or current replacement cost, are
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
reversal occurs.

1.9 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CASH-GENERATING ASSETS

Cash-generating assets are those assets held by the entity 
with the primary objective of generating a commercial 
return. When an asset is deployed in a manner consistent 
with that adopted by a profit-orientated entity, it generates 
a commercial return.

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-
generating assets.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits 
or service potential of an asset, over and above 
the systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s 
future economic benefits or service potential through 
depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset 
is recognised in the statement of financial position 
after deducting any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group 
of assets held with the primary objective of generating 
a commercial return that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows from other assets or groups of assets.
Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable 
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to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and 
income tax expense.

Depreciation (amortisation) is the systematic allocation of 
the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from 
the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-
generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use.

Useful life is either:
(a) the period of time over which an asset is expected to 
      be used by the entity; or
(b) the number of production or similar units expected to 
      be obtained from the asset by the entity.

Reversal of an impairment loss

The entity assess at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for a non-cash-generating asset may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, 
the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of 
that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-
cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable service amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable service amount. The increase 
is a reversal of an impairment loss. The increased carrying 
amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an 
impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of depreciation or 
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating 
asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-
generating asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the 
depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-
generating asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, 
less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its 
remaining useful life.
1.10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by 
an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees.

A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued 
by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined in the 
Standard of GRAP on Related Party Disclosures) of the 
reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy can be used 
only to pay or fund employee benefits under a defined 
benefit plan and are not available to the reporting entity’s 
own creditors (even in liquidation) and cannot be paid to 
the reporting entity, unless either:
• the proceeds represent surplus assets that are not 

needed for the policy to meet all the related employee 
benefit obligations; or

• the proceeds are returned to the reporting entity to 
reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a 
result of either:
• an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s 

employment before the normal retirement date; or
• an employee’s decision to accept voluntary 

redundancy in exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits 
(other than post-employment benefits and termination 
benefits) that are not due to be settled within twelve 
months after the end of the period in which the employees 
render the related service.

Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are 
not conditional on future employment.

Composite social security programmes are established by 
legislation and operate as multi-employer plans to provide 
post-employment benefits as well as to provide benefits 
that are not considered in exchange for service rendered 
by employees.

A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from 
an entity’s actions whereby an established pattern of past 
practice, published policies or a sufficiently specific current 
statement, the entity has indicated to other parties that it 
will accept certain responsibilities and as a result, the entity 
has created a valid expectation on the part of those other 
parties that it will discharge those responsibilities.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits 
(other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled 
within twelve months after the end of the period in which 
the employees render the related service.

Short-term employee benefits include items such as:
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• wages, salaries and social security contributions;
• short-term compensated absences (such as paid 

annual leave and paid sick leave) where the 
compensation for the absences is due to be settled 
within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related 
employee service;

• bonus, incentive and performance related payments 
payable within twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period in which the employees render the 
related service; and

• non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, 
and free or subsidised goods or services such as 
housing, cars and cellphones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity 
during a reporting period, the entity recognise the 
undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits 
expected to be paid in exchange for that service:
• as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any 

amount already paid. If the amount already paid 
exceeds the undiscounted amount of the benefits, 
the entity recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid 
expense) to the extent that the prepayment will lead 
to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a 
cash refund; and

• as an expense, unless another Standard requires or 
permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is 
recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of 
non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. 
The entity measure the expected cost of accumulating 
compensated absences as the additional amount that the 
entity expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement 
that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognise the expected cost of bonus, incentive 
and performance related payments when the entity has 
a present legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate 
of the obligation can be made. A present obligation exists 
when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the 
payments.

Post-employment benefits: Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit 
plans under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee 
benefits relating to employee service in the current and 
prior periods.
When an employee has rendered service to the entity 

during a reporting period, the entity recognise the 
contribution payable to a defined contribution plan in 
exchange for that service:
• as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any 

contribution already paid. If the contribution already 
paid exceeds the contribution due for service before 
the reporting date, an entity recognise that excess 
as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that the 
prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in 
future payments or a cash refund; and

• as an expense, unless another Standard requires or 
permits the inclusion of the contribution in the cost of 
an asset.

Where contributions to a defined contribution plan do 
not fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of 
the reporting period in which the employees render the 
related service, they are discounted. The rate used to 
discount reflects the time value of money. The currency 
and term of the financial instrument selected to reflect the 
time value of money is consistent with the currency and 
estimated term of the obligation.

Termination benefits

The entity recognises termination benefits as a liability and 
an expense when the entity is demonstrably committed 
to either:
• terminate the employment of an employee or group 

of employees before the normal retirement date; or
• provide termination benefits as a result of an offer 

made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy.

The entity is demonstrably committed to a termination 
when the entity has a detailed formal plan for the 
termination and is without realistic possibility of withdrawal. 
The detailed plan includes [as a minimum]:
• the location, function, and approximate number of 

employees whose services are to be terminated;
• the termination benefits for each job classification or 

function; and
• the time at which the plan will be implemented.

Implementation begins as soon as possible and the period 
of time to complete implementation is such that material 
changes to the plan are not likely.

Where termination benefits fall due more than 12 months 
after the reporting date, they are discounted using an 
appropriate discount rate. The rate used to discount the 
benefit reflects the time value of money. The currency 
and term of the financial instrument selected to reflect the 
time value of money is consistent with the currency and 
estimated term of the benefit.

In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
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redundancy, the measurement of termination benefits 
shall be based on the number of employees expected to 
accept the offer.

1.11 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:
• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past 

event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits or service potential will be required 
to settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where the effect of time value of money is material, 
the amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, 
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is 
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for 
the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the 
provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions 
are reversed if it is no longer probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits or service 
potential will be required, to settle the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a 
provision increases in each period to reflect the passage 
of time. This increase is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the 
provision was originally recognised.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present 
obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is 
recognised and measured as a provision.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 

recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 21.

1.12 REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential during the reporting period when those inflows 
result in an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity 
receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in 
the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other 
party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:
• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the 

significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• the entity retains neither continuing managerial 

involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the transaction will flow to 
the entity; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering 
of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated 
reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the transaction will flow to 
the entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the 
reporting date can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 
complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate 
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number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is 
recognised on a straight line basis over the specified time 
frame unless there is evidence that some other method 
better represents the stage of completion. When a specific 
act is much more significant than any other acts, the 
recognition of revenue is postponed until the significant 
act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the 
rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses 
recognised that are recoverable.

1.13 REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or 
service potential received and receivable by an entity, 
which represents an increase in net assets, other than 
increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify 
that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset is required to be consumed by 
the recipient as specified or future economic benefits or 
service potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arise when the entity can use or 
otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives 
and can exclude or otherwise regulate the access of 
others to that benefit.

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity 
receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily 
in the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to 
another entity in exchange.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, 
an entity either receives value from another entity without 
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, 
or gives value to another entity without directly receiving 
approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit 
or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset may be 
used, but do not specify that future economic benefits or 
service potential is required to be returned to the transferor 
if not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or 
regulation, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon 
the use of a transferred asset by entities external to the 
reporting entity.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except 
to the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of 
the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as 
a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-
exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces 
the carrying amount of the liability recognised and 
recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the 
amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the 
entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 
equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at its fair 
value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required 
to recognise a liability. Where a liability is required to be 
recognised it will be measured as the best estimate of the 
amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting 
date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, 
recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently 
reduced, because the taxable event occurs or a condition 
is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is 
recognised as revenue.

Transfers

Apart from Services in kind, which are not recognised, the 
entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the
transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and 
satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset.

The entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when 
the transferred resources meet the definition of an asset 
and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset.

Transferred assets are measured at their fair value as at the 
date of acquisition.

1.14 COST OF SALES

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of 
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and 
all deficits of inventories are recognised as an expense in 
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of 
any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from 
an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a 
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

The related cost of providing services recognised as 
revenue in the current period is included in cost of sales.
1.15 INVESTMENT INCOME
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Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion 
basis using the effective interest method.

1.16 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been 
reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the 
current year.

1.17 FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made 
in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable 
care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement 
of financial performance in the year that the expenditure 
was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance 
with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is 
subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement 
of financial performance.

1.18 IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure is expenditure incurred in 
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a 
requirement of any applicable legislation, including the 
PFMA.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which 
was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the PFMA 
requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified 
during the current financial year and which was condoned 
before year end and/or before finalisation of the financial 
statements must also be recorded appropriately in the 
irregular expenditure register. In such an instance, no 
further action is required with the exception of updating 
the note to the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified 
during the current financial year and for which 
condonement is being awaited at year-end must be 
recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further 
action is required with the exception of updating the note 
to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous 
financial year and is only condoned in the following 
financial year, the register and the disclosure note to the 
financial statements must be updated with the amount 
condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified 

during the current financial year and which was not 
condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant 
authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular 
expenditure register. If liability for the irregular expenditure 
can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be 
created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate steps 
must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from 
the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the 
accounting officer or accounting authority may write off 
the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in the 
relevant note to the financial statements. The irregular 
expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. 
If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned and 
no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto 
must remain against the relevant programme/expenditure 
item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial 
statements and updated accordingly in the irregular 
expenditure register.

1.19 RELATED PARTIES

The entity operates in an economic sector currently 
dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by 
the South African Government. As a consequence of 
the constitutional independence of the three spheres 
of government in South Africa, only entities within the 
national sphere of government are considered to be 
related parties.

Management are those persons responsible for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
including those charged with the governance of the entity 
in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are 
required to perform such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered 
to be those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that management in their 
dealings with the entity.

Only transactions with related parties not at arm’s length 
or not in the ordinary course of business are disclosed.

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED, BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for 
the entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2015 or later periods:

GRAP 18:  Segmented Reporting GRAP 18 is unlikely to have an impact on the entity when it does become applicable 
  because there are no activities in the entity that are distinguishable from each other therefore it would not be  
  appropriate to separately report financial information per segment.
GRAP 32:  Service Concession Arrangements - No potential impact since no such transactions occur.
GRAP 105: Transfers of Functions between Entities Under Common Control – This standard may have a potential impact.
  The impact can only be determined once a formal agreement is finalised regarding a potential   
  consolidation of the Windybrow Theatre with another public entity.
GRAP 106: Transfers of Functions between Entities Not Under Common Control – Unlikely to have an impact on the entity.
GRAP 107: Mergers – Unlikely to have an impact on the entity.
GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables – Unlikely to have an impact on the entity.
IGRAP 17:  Service Concession Arrangements where a Grantor Controls a Significant Residual Interest in an Asset - Unlikely 
  to have an impact on the entity.

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2015 2014
R R

Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying 
value

Furniture and fixtures 397 235 (304 471) 92 764 399 924 (272 749) 127 175
Motor vehicles 317 218 (173 911) 143 307 317 218 (123 085) 194 133
Office equipment 1 883 778 (1 609 154) 274 624 2 019 119 (1 554 780) 464 339
IT equipment 608 759 (512 499) 96 260 615 813 (505 646) 110 167
Leasehold improvements 666 629 - 666 629 - - -
Other equipment 34 962 (6 992) 27 970 34 962 - 34 962
Communication equipment 5 554 (1 851) 3 703 5 554 - 5 554
Total 3 914 135 (2 608 878) 1 305 257 3 392 590 (2 456 260) 936 330
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2015

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 127 175 - (762) (33 649) 92 764
Motor vehicles 194 133 -  - (50 826) 143 307
Office equipment 464 339 - (5 451) (184 264) 274 624
IT equipment 110 167 - (1 000) (12 907) 96 260
Leasehold improvements - 666 629 - - 666 629
Other equipment 34 962 - - (6 992) 27 970
Communication equipment 5 554 - - (1 851) 3 703

936 330 666 629 (7 213) (290 489) 1 305 257

2015 2014
R R

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Leased 
assets 

deleted 
from asset 

register

Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 160 953 - - - (33 778) 127 175
Motor vehicles 229 505 - - - (35 372) 194 133
Office equipment 818 649 - (43 021) (13 750) (297 539) 464 339
IT equipment 113 313 36 866 (17 611) - (22 401) 110 167
Other equipment - 34 962 - - - 34 962
Communication equipment - 5 554 - - - 5 554

1 322 420 77 382 (60 632) (13 750) (389 090) 936 330

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2015 2014
Cost /

Valuation
Accumulated
amortisation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying 
value

Computer software - - - 77 654 (77 652) 2
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2015
Opening 
balance

Disposals Total

Computer software, other 2 (2) -

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2014
Opening 
balance

Total

Computer software, other 2 2

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

2015 2014
R R

Finished goods (coffee shop and snack bar stock items) - 7 025

5. INVENTORIES

6. RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Trade debtors 16 328 -
Employee costs in advance 161 467 6 370
Deposits - 112 000
Insurance debtors - 24 653

177 795 143 023

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 
2015, R12 211 (2014: R22 111) were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

1 month past due 2 954 -
3 months past due 161 467 -

Beyond 13 374 -
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2015 2014
R R

Cash on hand 3 100 4 300
Bank balances - 98 393
Short-term deposits 12 559 094 11 026 055
Bank overdraft (2 560) -

12 559 634 11 128 748

Current assets 12 562 194 11 128 748
Current liabilities (2 560) -

12 559 634 11 128 748

7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consists of:

8. UNSPENT CONDITIONAL GRANTS AND RECEIPTS

The deferred income of R10 958 745 represents the balance of funds received from the Department of Arts and Culture 
for the capital works programme.

Movement during the year

Balance at the beginning of the year 11 010 753 16 779 255
Interest earned on unspent grants during the year 614 621 -
Income recognition during the year on capital projects (666 629) (5 018 503)
Income recognition during the year for production grants - (749 999)

10 958 745 11 010 753

Non-current liabilities - -
Current liabilities 10 958 745 11 010 753

10 958 745 11 010 753

The nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial statements and an indication of other forms of
government assistance from which the entity has directly benefitted; and unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies 
attaching to government assistance that has been recognised.

See note 14 for reconciliation of grants from National Government.

These amounts are invested in a ring-fenced investment until utilised.
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9. PROVISIONS

Reconciliation of provisions - 2015
Opening 
balance

Utilised 
during the 

year

Total

Legal proceedings 27 000 (27 000) -

Reconciliation of provisions - 2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Utilised 
during the 

year

Total

Legal proceedings - 27 000 - 27 000
Opening balance for retrenched employees 82 178 - (82 178) -
Provision for audit fees 450 000 - (450 000) -

532 178 27 000 (532 178) 27 000

Trade payables 462 266 1 021 784
Garnishee deductions - 680
Accrued leave pay 29 271 92 935
Sundry suppliers 111 138 258 829

602 675 1 374 238

10. PAYABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

2015 2014
R R

The Council considers that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate its fair value.

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets - 2015

At amortised 
cost

At cost Total

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 177 795 - 177 795
Cash and cash equivalents - 12 562 194 12 562 194

177 795 12 562 194 12 739 989

Financial liabilities - 2015

At amortised 
cost

At cost Total

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 593 766 602 675 1 196 441
Bank overdraft - 2 560 2 560

593 766 605 235 1 199 001

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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2015 2014
R R

Financial assets - 2014

At amortised 
cost

At cost Total

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 143 023 - 143 023
Cash and cash equivalents - 11 128 748 11 128 748

143 023 11 128 748 11 271 771

Financial liabilities - 2014

At amortised 
cost

Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 1 374 238 1 374 238

12. REVENUE

Ticket sales 101 279 183 662
Rental of facilities and equipment 2 000 17 700
Sundry income 24 200 -
Interest received - investment - 625 989
Government grants and subsidies 11 452 962 15 850 503

11 580 441 16 677 854

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services are as follows:
Ticket sales 101 279 183 662
Rental of facilities and equipment 2 000 17 700
Sundry income 24 200 -
Interest received - investment - 625 989

127 479 827 351

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchanges transactions are as follows:
Transfer revenue
Government grants and subsidies 11 452 962 15 850 503

13. COST OF SALES

Sale of goods
Cost of goods sold - 9 714
Write down of inventories to net realisable value 7 025 -
Abnormal production overheads - 13 804
Abnormal amounts of production costs of inventory - (7 023)

7 025 16 495

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE (continued)



40

Windybrow Theatre Annual Report 2014 | 2015

Operating grants
Department of Arts and Culture operational fund 10 703 000 10 082 000
Production grants 83 333 749 999

10 786 333 10 831 999

Capital grants
Department of Arts and Culture Capital Works Fund 666 629 5 018 504

11 452 962 15 850 503

14. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES

2015 2014
R R

15. OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges
Premises
• Contractual amounts 766 080 2 941

The Windybrow entered into a lease agreement with Regus Management Group (Pty) Ltd. This agreement involved the 
lease of office premises in Parktown Johannesburg. Commencement date for the lease agreement was 1 April 2014 and 
the contract terminated on 31 March 2015 in terms of the lease agreement.

16.  EMPLOYEE RELATED COSTS

Basic 2 891 453 2 615 818
Bonus 160 821 192 637
Medical aid - company contributions 13 556 24 343
UIF 16 630 15 377
WCA 2 777 23 592
SDL 29 881 29 914
Leave pay provision charge (63 664) -
Defined contribution plans 319 039 320 361
Production wages - 992 029
Technical wages 12 954 401 664

3 383 447 4 615 735

Remuneration of chief executive officer (suspended June 2013 and dismissed April 2014)
Annual remuneration 51 999 623 990
Performance bonuses - 51 999
Contributions to UIF, medical and pension funds 9 208 112 161

61 207 788 150

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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2015 2014
R R

Remuneration of chief financial officer (dismissed April 2014)
Annual remuneration 46 721 560 657
Car allowance - 35 364
Performance bonuses - 49 524
Contributions to medical aid 14 921 55 402
Contribution to UIF and SDL 634 8 410
Contribution to pension fund 7 709 92 875

69 985 802 232

Remuneration of non executive management (Council, Audit Committee)
Previous Council members that resigned on 29 October 2013 - 463 791
Council Members 11 424 -
Audit committee members 8 976 -
SDL for Council and Audit Committee members 57 -

20 457 463 791

Remuneration of the acting chief executive officer (Appointed 1 October 2013. Contract expired 31 March 2014)
Annual remuneration - 360 000
Contributions to UIF, medical and pension funds - 4 492

- 364 492

Remuneration of the acting chief financial officer (Contract ended 31 August 2014)
Annual remuneration 274 645 165 000
Contributions to UIF, medical and pension funds 3 490 2 096

278 135 167 096

Total employee related costs 3 813 231 7 201 496

17. INVESTMENT REVENUE

Investment revenue
Interest from bank deposits - 625 989

Interest on Telkom - 4 708
Interest on electricity - 3 621

- 8 329

18. FINANCE COSTS
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Audit fees 595 964 567 618
Forensic audit fees - 936 054
Internal audit fees - (10 897)

595 964 1 492 775

19. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

2015 2014
R R

20. CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS

Surplus/(deficit) 2 678 129 (1 271 646)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 290 491 389 090
Loss/(gain) on sale of assets and liabilities 7 214 47 369
Bad debts - 24 898
Movements in provisions (27 000) (505 178)
Changes in working capital:
Inventories 7 025 2 688
Receivables from exchange transactions (34 772) (138 199)
Payables from exchange transactions (771 568) (159 679)
Unspent conditional grants and receipts (52 008) (5 768 503)

2 097 511 (7 379 160)

21. CONTINGENCIES

The Windybrow Theatre has received a notice of motion from a contractor, Fundi Communications and Advertising CC,
instituting a claim for R20 254 640 plus interest for non payment relating to a contract for Phase 5 of the refurbishment 
project of the Windybrow premises. The High Court issued a ruling in favour of Fundi Communications and Advertising CC 
for the above mentioned amount in January 2015. Subsequent to the ruling the Windybrow Theatre made an application 
for recission of the ruling. The timing and outcome of this action is pending at the balance sheet signing date, and no 
provision for a liability has been raised.

The dismissed CEO and CFO challenged their dismissals at the CCMA. The CCMA made an award in favour of the CEO 
and CFO. The amount in favour of the CEO is R643 000. The amount in favour of the CFO is R648 785. The Windybrow 
Theatre has challenged these awards at the Labour Court and the outcome is pending. No provision for a liability has 
been raised. Furthermore the Windybrow Theatre has instituted a claim against the former CEO and CFO for an amount 
of R39 million at the Labour Court with regards to alleged overpayments to suppliers for alleged building costs that were 
incurred at the Windybrow premises.

22. PRIOR PERIOD ERRORS

An allocation error occurred in the prior year with regards to Government grants and subsidies received. An amount of 
R750 000 was incorrectly allocated to the Department of Arts and Culture operational fund. This amount should have been 
allocated to the production grants.

A calculation error was noted when performing a detailed reconciliation of the opening balance of the irregular 
expenditure. The error has resulted in an overstatement of the irregular expenditure.
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2015 2014
R R

The correction of the error(s) results in adjustments as follows:

Irregular expenditure note
Closing balance: Previously stated - 64 568 615
Calculation error - (53 131)
Restated closing balance - 64 515 484

Statement of Financial Performance
Production Grants: Previously stated - -
Amount incorrectly allocated to Department of Arts and Culture operational fund - 749 000
Restated amount - 749 000
Department of Arts and Culture operational fund: Previously stated - 10 832 000
Amount incorrectly allocated to Department of Arts and Culture operation fund - (749 000)
Restated amount - 10 082 000

23. RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk,
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk  

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities. The Windybrow Theatre has cash management 
processed aimed at ensuring that the Windybrow Theatre manages its cash resources optimally, has sufficient funds to 
meet its day to day financial obligations, is investing any cash surpluses by appropriate and authorised methods and has 
sufficient facilities in place to provide its required liquidity management.

The table below analyses the Windybrow Theatre’s financial liabilities which will be settled on a gross basis into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date.  
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal 
their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Less than 1 
year

Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years

Over 5 years

At 31 March 2015
• Payables from exchange transactions 602 675 - - -

At 31 March 2014
• Payables from exchange transactions 1 374 238 - - -
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. The entity 
only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an 
ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, 
risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other 
factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The 
utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers are settled in cash or using major credit cards. 
Credit guarantee insurance is purchased when deemed appropriate.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

Financial instrument 2015 2014
Receivables from exchange transactions 177 795 143 024
Cash and cash equivalents 12 562 194 11 128 748

2015 2014
R R

Market risk

Interest rate risk

All financial instruments attract interest at rates directly linked to the prime overdraft rate. The Windybrow Theatre’s 
exposure to market risk (in the form of interest rate risk) arises primarily from the Foundation’s investment in cash and cash 
equivalents. The Windybrow Theatre’s financial assets and liabilities are managed in such a way that the fluctuations in 
variable rates do not have a material impact on the surplus or deficit as the Windybrow Theatre settles its outstanding 
obligation within 30 days and interest on outstanding debts is charged using the applicable rates.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Financial instrument Current 
interest rate

Due in less 
than a year

Due in 1 to 2 
years

Due in 2 to 3 
years

Due in 3 to 4 
years

Due after 5 
years

Cash in current banking
institutions 5,00% 12 562 194 - - - -

Foreign exchange risk

The Windybrow Theatre conducts all of its business in South African Rand and has no committments denominated in 
foreign currencies. It is not exposed to foreign exchange risk.

24. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

Opening Balance 39 160 17 067
Relating to 2014 - 22 093
Less amount written off by Council as irrecoverable (39 160) -
Closing balance - 39 160

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2015



Windybrow Theatre Annual Report 2014 | 2015

45

2015 2014
R R

25. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE
Opening balance 64 515 484 33 551 887
Add: Irregular expenditure - current year 1 797 182 8 482 132
Add: Prior year amounts - 22 534 596
Calculation error from the prior year - (53 131)
Total 66 312 666 64 515 484

Analysis of expenditure

Irregular expenditure relating to goods and services where there was no evidence of 
SCM regulations been followed. This expenditure relates to awards that were made 
to suppliers prior to 1 April 2014 however the expenditure was incurred in the current 
financial year.

1 396 989 -

Prior years 64 515 484 56 025 847
The irregular expenditure relating to goods and services were incurred in 2013, 2012 and 
2011 financial years as a result of the Windybrow Theatre personnel non-compliance to 
quotes and the PFMA.

- -

Irregular expenditure relating to goods and services as a result of non-compliance to 
the PFMA by Windybrow personnel for the year ended 31 March 2014.

- 8 489 637

Total 65 912 473 64 515 484

26. COMMITMENTS

Authorised capital expenditure

Not yet contracted for and authorised
• Property, plant and equipment 6 619 526 -

The committed expenditure relates to capital expenditure and will be financed through the Unspent Conditional Grants
received from the Department of Arts and Culture.

Already contracted for but not provided for
• Property, plant and equipment 4 339 218 -
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2015 2014
R R

27. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships
Ultimate controlling entity   Department of Arts and Culture
Under common control of the DAC  The Market Theatre Foundation

Related party balances

Department of Arts and Culture
Unspent Conditional grants and receipts 10 958 745 11 010 753
Payables to the Market Theatre Foundation 4 308 -

Related party transactions

Department of Arts and Culture
Capital grants 666 629 5 018 503
Operating grants 10 703 000 10 082 000
Production grants 83 333 750 000

The Market Theatre Foundation
Expenses 769 588 -
Ticket Sales 101 055 -

28. CHANGE IN ESTIMATE

Property, plant and equipment

The useful life and residual values of certain property, plant and equipment was revised as part of the annual assessment  
of the useful lives.

The impact on the current year depreciation is an additional depreciation charge of R35 990.

The impact on future depreciation is an additional future depreciation of R242 545.

29. CAPITAL DONATIONS RESERVE

The capital donations reserve represents the book value of fixed assets acquired using external funding. Detailed 
movements of this can be found in the Statement of changes in net assets.
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2015 2014
R R

30. BUDGET DIFFERENCES

Material differences between budget and actual amounts

Ticket sales, rentals and interest: This variance is due to the suspension of operations at the Windybrow Theatre. Only two
Windybrow productions were produced during the financial year and these productions were staged at the Market 
Theatre.

Government grants and subsidies: This variance is due to production grants of R83 333 and the realisation of capital works 
grant of R666 629 not been budgeted for.

Employee related costs: The variance is due to the suspension of operations at the Windybrow Theatre. As a result of no 
productions certain employee related costs were not incurred. Furthermore the former CEO and CFO were suspended 
and no payments were made to them for most of the year.

Depreciation: The variance is due to some items of property, plant and equipment that have been written off. The only 
additions for the year related to leasehold improvements for which depreciation has not yet commenced since these 
items are not yet available in the condition required for use.

General expenses: The variance is due to the suspension of operations at the Windybrow Theatre where most production 
related expenses that have been budgeted were not incurred.

Receivables from exchange transactions: The variance is mainly due to an amount of R161 467 that was paid to the former 
CEO by the Sheriff of the court prior to proceedings at the Labour Court being finalised. The process of the recovery of this 
amount is being conducted by the Windybrow attorneys.

Cash and cash equivalents: The variance is due to unspent conditional grants and receipts which was not budgeted for.

Property, plant and equipment: The variance is mainly due to leasehold improvements that occurred at the Windybrow 
Theatre. 

Unspent conditional grants and receipts: These amounts were not budgeted for.

Payables from exchange transactions: The variance is mainly due to suppliers of legal fees and leasehold improvements 
been paid after year-end.
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31. GOING CONCERN

As disclosed in note 21 there are legal cases pending against the entity. The outcome of these cases are unknown. 
Furthermore the majority of the operations of the entity were suspended during the financial year and no productions 
were held at the Windybrow Theatre, however joint productions have been staged at the Market Theatre premises. These 
factors result in a material uncertainty regarding the Windybrow’s ability to operate as a going concern. The mitigating 
factors are as follows:
Windybrow received a commitment from the Department of Arts and Culture to continue the operational grant for the next 
three years. Furthermore the entity reflects an accumulated surplus and the assets exceed the liabilities at 31 March 2015.

The Minister of the Department of Arts and Culture requested the Market Theatre Foundation management on 26 March 2014 
to administer the Windybrow Theatre.  This created stability for the Windybrow, but there are still outstanding historic issues that 
need attention.
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32. GENERAL EXPENSES (UNAUDITED SCHEDULE)

Advertising 56 409 33 113
Auditors remuneration 595 964 1 492 775
Bank charges 8 656 29 114
Cleaning 1 768 55 005
Computer expenses 131 169 104 435
Consulting and professional fees 1 518 558 712 951
Entertainment 1 897 6 311
Fines and penalties - 10 735
Insurance 113 255 100 881
Lease rentals on operating lease 766 080 2 941
Magazines, books and periodicals 664 2 438
Postage and courier 742 1 019
Printing and stationery 70 105 132 472
Security 369 811 120 000
Staff welfare 1 769 12 830
Subscriptions and membership fees 63 610 80 177
Telephone and fax 93 793 147 759
Training 6 874 20 354
Travel - local 107 549 134 892
Electricity 153 979 268 807
Water 1 147 2 189
Accommodation and meetings 7 232 13 281
Theatre expenses 657 428 1 734 397
Building refurbishment - 4 973 490
Other expenses 1 473 -
Sale of goods 7 025 16 495

4 736 957 10 208 861

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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